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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CATHERINE KURZDORFER, orehalf of plaintiff
and the class defined herein,
DECISIONAND ORDER

Raintiff,
19-CV-6430L

CONSTAR FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC,

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Catherine Kurzdorfer (“Kurzdorfer’jiled this class aotin against defendant
Constar Financial Services, LLC (“Constardlleging claims under thEair Debt Collection
Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, seq. (Dkt. # 1). Kurzdorr’'s claims arise from
two debt collection letters she received from Constar in April 2019. Pending now is Constar’'s
motion to dismiss Kurzdorfer's complaint pursuanRigde 12(b)(6) of thé&ederal Rules of Civil
Procedure. (Dkt. # 10). Constar's motion alsdudes a request for attorneys’ fees incurred in
connection with this caseSé€eDkt. # 10-2 at 11-12). For tliellowing reasons, Constar’'s motion
to dismiss is granted, and its requiestattorneys’ fees is denied.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND *

In April 2019, Kurzdorfer recead two debt collection letterfrom Constar related to an

alleged debt she owes M&T BankDkt. # 1 at Y 13-17). Thersi letter is deed April 16, 2019

I The following facts are taken frokurzdorfer's complaint and those exhibits attached to the complaint and are
assumed to be true for purposes of this motion.
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and was received by Kurzdorfen April 22, 2019 (the “First Ltéer”), and the second letter is
dated April 22, 2019 and was received by Kurzdoofe April 27, 2019 (théSecond Letter,” and
together with the First Letter, the “Collection Letters”)d. @t 19 14-17). Constar, an Arizona
limited liability company, quifies as a “debt collector” under the FDCPAd.(at 11 10-12).

The Collection Letters are exhibited to the conmtland appear to keffectively identical.
(SeeDkt. # 1-1 at 2-3, 6-7). They informed &adorfer that M&T Bank had referred her debt to
Constar for collection. I14. at 2, 6). Both Collection Letteedso reflected an alleged “past due”
debt of $14,815.98 and stated that tebt “must be paii full,” listed M&T Bank as the creditor,
contained the same account number andnstar number, indicated that they were
“communication[s] . . . from a debbllector [and were] an attemptdollect a debt and [that] any
information obtained w[ouldpe used for that purpose,” proga Kurzdorfer with information to
remit payment, and contained certain staad municipal-specifianformation concerning
consumer rights. (Dkt. # 1-1 at3, 6-7 (emphasis omitted)Moreover, the Collection Letters
each stated that:

[u]nless you notify thioffice within 30 days after receiving this
notice that you dispute the validity of this debt, or any portion
thereof, this office will assumeithdebt is valid. If you notify this
office in writing within 30 dayd$rom receiving thisotice that you
dispute the validity of this delar any portion thereof, this office
will obtain verification of the debdr obtain a copy of a judgment
and mail you a copy @&uch judgment or vdication. If you request

in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will
provide you the name and addresfs the original creditor, if

different from the current creditor.

If payment in full is received in our office, all collection activity will
cease.

(Id. at 2, 6).



Kurzdorfer alleges that th€ollection Letters constitute ttices of debt” under section
1692¢g of the FDCPA and that Constar “often senasdmmore ‘notices of debt’ in succession to
the same address without anplplem with the addss being noted.” (Dkt. # 1 at 11 18, 19).

DISCUSSION

Standard on a Motion to Dismiss

To survive a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, “a complaint mustrtain sufficient factuainatter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim
to relief that is plausible on its face.Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgl|
Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “A claitmas facial plausibility when the
plaintiff pleads factual content that allows tbeurt to draw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct allegeltl”’ In deciding a motion tdismiss, a court must
accept as true all factual allegations in the compknd draw all reasonable inferences in favor
of the plaintiff. See Trs. of Upstate New York EsgPension Fund vy Asset Mgmt.843 F.3d
561, 566 (2d Cir. 2016)ert. denied 137 S.Ct. 2279 (2017). A cdunay also “consider any
written instrument attached to the [c]Jomplaad an exhibit or any aiements or documents
incorporated in it by reference City of Pontiac Policemen’s &iremen’s Ret. Sys. v. UBS AG
752 F.3d 173, 179 (2d Cir. 2014) (altevas and quotations omitted).

. Sufficiency of Kurzdorf er’'s Claims under the FDCPA

Kurzdorfer alleges that “Constar's [Collewt] [L]etters contain[ed] contradictory
validation notices that [were] inherently false, confusing and misleading,” in that by sending the
Second Letter in “close succession” to the FirstdreKurzdorfer allegedly “d[id] not know when
the [30-day validation period] expire[d].”SéeDkt. # 1 at § 21; Dkt. # 13 at 8). In her view,

Constar could not extend the \ddtion period beyond the thirty dagsticed in the First Letter



and prescribed in seon 1692g of the FDCPA, even by sérgla second communication — like
the Second Letter — that purported to do soSee(Dkt. # 13 at 14-15 (“[s]Jubsequent
communications do not extend the 30 day period wtide[FDCPA]; there is no provision in the
statute for extending the 30 day period or waiwtiger statutory limitatins on the consumer’s
rights”)). Accordingly, Kurzdorfer maintains th@bnstar’s “sending of twmotices of debt’ one
week apart is confusings to Ms. Kurzdofer’s [g] § 1692g rights, in thathe ‘least ephisticated
consumer’ could readily believe thtaey have 30 days after receappthe second letter to exercise
their validation rightswhen that is not the case(ld. at 14 (emphasis supplied)).

In moving to dismiss Kurzdorfer's complaif@pnstar points out théte Collection Letters
each complied with the requirements setifamtsection 1692g(a) of the FDCPASgeDkt. # 10-2
at 2). Furthermore, Constar’s principal contemtis that it was pernigd to send Kurzdorfer two
debt collection letters within the initial thirtyagl validation period because Kurzdorfer had not yet
challenged the validity of the debtSde id.at 4, 6-9). Constar also maintains that the Second
Letter did not contradict or confuse the validag@miod identified in the Fst Letter because the
Second Letter did not create the imgsion that Kurzdorfehad less than the statutory thirty days
to dispute the debt and that, if anything, it ofdyxtended [Kurzdorfer’s] the to pay or dispute
the debt.” [d. at 9).

A. Relevant Sections of the FDCPA

To state a claim under the FDCPA, a plaintiffsnshow that “(1) shhas been the object
of collection activity arising from consumer debt) {Re defendant is a debt collector as defined
by the FDCPA, and (3) the defentlhas engaged in an act or osiis prohibited by the FDCPA.”
Ossipova v. Pioneer Credit Recovery, Jni2019 WL 6792318, *3 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (citation

omitted). Here, only the third element is in disgg Kurzdorfer alleges that Constar’s sending of



the Collection Letters “in cl@ssuccession” violated seati® 1692g and 1692e of the FDCPA.
(Dkt. # 1 at § 21).

Section 1692g of the FDCPA relates to “validation of debts.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢g. It
requires a debt collector to provide written notrederred to as a “notice of debt” or a “validation
notice,” within five days afteits initial communicatin with a consumemdicating the amount of
the alleged debt as well as the name of thlitor to whom the debis owed. 15 U.S.C.
88 1692g(a)(1)-(2)see also Ellis v. Solomon & Solomon, P31 F.3d 130, 134 (2d Cirgert.
denied 560 U.S. 926 (2010). This notice must alsdude a “statement thanless the consumer,
within thirty days after receipt of the notice, glises the validity of the &, or any portion thereof,
the debt will be assumed to be valid by thétdeollector.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢g(a)(3). This
thirty-day period is often referred to as the “validation perio8ée Ellis591 F.3d at 132. In
addition, the notice must indicateatt{if the consumer notifies the loiecollector in writing within
the thirty-day period that the debt, or any porticerdéof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain
verification of the debt” and mathe verification to the consumer. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4).
Finally, the notice is required tstate that “upon the consumemgitten request within the
thirty-day period, the debt collector will providee consumer with the nee and address of the
original creditor, if differebhfrom the current creditor.Td. at 8 1692g(a)(5). Uess the consumer
disputes the alleged debt in writing during thédadion period, a debt dector “may continue”
its “[c]ollection activities anccommunications . . . during the 30-day period,” but such conduct
“may not overshadow or be incastent with the disclose of thmonsumer’s right to dispute the
debt.” Id. at § 1692g(b)accord Ellis 591 F.3d at 135 (“the validatigreriod is not grace period;

in the absence of a dispute notice, the debéctdt is allowed to dema immediate payment and

2 Though not specified in her complaint, Kurzdorfer argues in opposition to the pending motion that the Collection
Letters allegedly violated sections 1692e(2)(A) and 1692e(10) of the FD@@aDKt. # 13 at 12).
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to continue collection activity[;] . . [w]hile debt collectors arerigely free to continue collection
activities during the valiation period, th[e] [Second Circuliths long held that validation period
collection activities and communications mustawdrshadow or contradict the validation notice”)
(quotations omitted).

Section 1692e of the FDCPA generally protsldebt collectors from using “any false,
deceptive, or misleading representation or meam®mmection with the collection of any debt.”
Id. at § 1692e. Conduct that violates this sectimiudes the “false represtation of . .. the
character, amount, or ldgstatus of any debtitl. at 8§ 1692e(2)(A), awell as using “any false
representation or deceptive means to collect omaitéo collect any debt or to obtain information
concerning a consumeld. at § 1692e(10).

Whether a debt collector’s adties or communications violatsections 1692g or 1692e is
evaluated under the “least sogtitated consumer” standardsee Huebner v. Midland Credit
Mgmt., Inc, 897 F.3d 42, 51 (2d Cir. 2018) (“[w]hentémpreting § 1692e, [the court] test[s]
whether a communication is ‘deceptive’ by askmugv the ‘least sophisticated consumer’ would
interpret it”), cert. denied 139 S.Ct. 1282 (2019Ellis, 591 F.3d at 135 (“[w]hether collection
activities or communications withitme validation period overshadaw are inconsistent with a
validation notice [under section 1&g is determined under theedst sophisticated consumer’
standard”). A communication can be misleadingleceptive in violation of section 1692e under
this standard if it iSopen to more than oneeasonable interpretation, laast one of which is
inaccurate.” Eades v. Kennedy, PC Law Officéd®99 F.3d 161, 173 (2d Cir. 2015) (citation
omitted). Moreover, “[a] collection activitgr communication overshadsewor contradicts the
validation notice [in violation oection 1692¢] if it would make ¢Heast sophisticated consumer

uncertain as to her rightsEllis, 591 F.3d at 135 (quotations omitted)t the same time, however,



“FDCPA protection does not extenddwery bizarre or idiosyncratinterpretation of a collection
notice and courts should apply the standar@ imanner that protects debt collectors against
liability for unreasonable misinterpretations of collection noticesdsterling v. Collecto, In¢.
692 F.3d 229, 233-34 (2d Cir. 201uotations omitted).

Because the “least sophisticatmmhsumer” standard is obje®, the “Second Circuit has
indicated that the detmination of how the leastophisticated consumemuld view language in
a defendant’s collection letter is a question of lawetrano v. CBE Grp., Inc2016 WL 4083384,
*4 (E.D.N.Y. 2016).

B. Analysis®

| find that the Second Letter, which contairibe exact same validation notice as the First
Letter and pertained to the saaileged debt, neither overshadoveedontradicted the validation
period noticed in the First Letter, neas it inherently false or misleading.

The Second Letter, like the First Letter, conveye Kurzdorfer that she had thirty days
“after receivingthis notice” to dispute the validity of hedebt. (Dkt. # 1-1 at 6 (emphasis
supplied)). That statement cannot plausibly dxestrued to have shortened the validation period
noticed in the First Letter, which cdsrhave found to violate the FDCP/Aee, e.g.Savino v.
Computer Credit, In¢.164 F.3d 81, 86 (2d Cir. 1998) (“[def#ant’s] violation of [the FDCPA]
consisted of its decision to akk immediate payment without algaplaining that its demand did
not override the consumer’'ghts under Sectioh692g to seek validation of the debtge also

Bridges v. Performant Recovery, In2015 WL 8773340, *3 (M.D. Ga. 2015) (“when courts have

3 | note that the analysis of whether Constar's alleged conduct violated either section 1692g or seatios 1692
similar. See, e.gRosen v. LJ Ross Assocs., |”2020 WL 1332145, *4 (E.D.N.Y. 2020) (“[s]ignificantly, courts in
th[e] [Second] Circuit have held that the standard forrdeténg a violation of § 1692&0) is essentially the same

as that for § 1692g") (quotations omitted) (collecting cas@8)erefore, | rely principally on the same reasoning
discussed below in evaluating the sufficiency of both of Kurzdorfer’s claims.
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found 8 1692g violations, the collection letters demand payment lieéoseatutory 30-day period
has expired, or the letters caat the fact that the debtor h&80 days to dispute the debt”);
Orenbuch v. Computer Credit, InR002 WL 1918222, *3 (S.D.N.Y.0D2) (“[tjhe FDCPA . ..
forbids a debt collector thatgms to continue its collectioriferts from creating the impression
that the debtor has less than the 3@lIday period to request validation”).

Instead, the Secondetter effetively extendedKurzdorfer's time todispute the debt
beyond the thirty-day period noticed in the Firstter. Though neither party has offered binding
authority on this issue, this Court has identifedple authority that this was not impermissible —
contrary to Kurzdorfer'siew. For instance, district counsthin the Second @¢uit have found
that a debt collector does not violate the FDCPA by sending a second collettéigreither within
or outside of the initially noticed validation period, which extends a consumer’s time to dispute a
debt. See, e.g.Rosen 2020 WL 1332145 at *5 (dismissing piéff's section 1692e claim that
sending two validation notices created confusiboua the deadline to submit a written dispute:
“[a] debt collector’s issuance afsecond debt collection letter widtsecond validaon notice does
not overshadow the original vadition notice nor would it cooke the [least sophisticated
consumer][;] [ijnstead, it grants the consumediadnal time to dispute the debt, which the debt
collector is permitted to do”}Arend v. Total Recovery Serv8006 WL 2064977, *3 (E.D.N.Y.
2006) (“[section] 16929 of the FD@RJoes not prohibit a debt collee from giving the consumer
more than thirty days to exercise his right to obtain validation of the debt[, and] [i]t is neither
deceitful nor false, even to theast sophisticated camser, for the [d]efendant to offer [p]laintiff
additional time to exercise his right to olotaialidation of the debyx (citation omitted);Brenker
v. Creditors Interchange, Inc2004 WL 594502, *2 (S.D.N.Y. 2004dlefendant did not violate

sections 16929 or 1692e by sending plaintiff two validation notices within five days of each other:



“[t]he initial letter accuratly notified [p]laintiff thatshe had thirty days from receipt of that letter
in which to request validation[fflhe second letter also descrittbe validation period and related
rights accurately[;] [i]t did nothing to suggesinihution of the initialperiod; if anything, it
re-started the period, thereby effectively extagdp]laintiff’'s opportunity to seek validation of
the debt[;] [n]othing in the FDC® prohibits a debt collgtor from giving a dietor more than the
requisite 30-day Jalation period”).

A majority of district courts nationwide also hold this vieee, e.gMedina v. LTD Fin.
Servs., L.B.2020 WL 4207671, *3 (S.D. Tex.) (no vidlat of sections 1692g or 1692e where
defendant sent plaintiff two valilan notices within six days of each other: “sequential letters
with 30-day validation noticedo not violate 8 1692e by creatiagfalse misrepsentation, and
instead can only be viewed as extending the 30vdéigation period[;] . . . where there was no
attempt to collect the debt before the 30-g&yiod expired, and where the second letter did
nothing more than extend the 30-day period, nottehat, the second lettermmaot be said to have
overshadowed the first letter so as tonstitute a violation of 8 1692g”)eport and
recommendation adopted 3020 WL 4207552 (S.D. Tex. 202@urry v. AR Res., Inc2016
WL 8674254, *3 (D.N.J. 2016) (rejecting argument thdebt collector “does not have the power
to grant consumers additional statytrights [under the FDCPA][;]... if a debt collector properly
informs a debtor of her right toave the debt validated by requesthe next 30 days, and then
subsequently extends that timeipd in a second communication, the debtor’s initial substantive
right to dispute the debt withiB0 days has not been impactedrascharacterized”) (alterations
omitted); Bridges 2015 WL 8773340 at *3-4 (agreeing withfeledant that a second validation
notice sent to plaintiff within the original tityrday validation period di not violate sections

16929 or 1692e, as the second letter “only exteflédntiff’s time to assert his rights”)Gesten



v. Phelan Hallinan, PLC57 F. Supp. 3d 1381, 1386-87 (S.D. R@14) (“[d]efendant’s second
letter [sent ‘[a]Jroundthe same time as the filstter] is not inonsistent with the thirty-day period
that the FDCPA allows [p]laintiff to dispute the debt[;] [i]f anything, the second letter grants
[p]laintiff additional time to do so”),cf. Warran v. Smith Debnamdarron Drake Saintsing &
Myers, LLR 2011 WL 10858230, *1-3 (E.D.N.C. 2011) @efing argument that defendants
violated sections 1692g and 1692e by affordinginpiffs “45 days to challenge and request
verification of their debt instead of the statutory 30 days[;] . . réhJe]laintiffs assert that the
statute’s 30-day time frame is notlpm floor, but is also a ceiling . . . [yet] this interpretation is
nothing less than absurd[;] . . . [d]efendants cabegbenalized for givingebtors more time to
assert their rights than the st provided[;] . . . [ijndeed, &¢ collectors do not violate the
FDCPA by giving debt@ more rights”).

| find this great weight of authority from withand outside of this Circuit to be persuasive
on the issue of whether Constawutmb permissibly afford Kurzdorfemore than thirty days to
dispute the validity of her debly sending the Second Letter. Indeas other courts have noted,
the FDCPA creates a “minimum national standaia{jdebt collection praates” and it would be
“antithetical to that purpose farohibit a debt collector from gug above a minimastandard.”
Curry, 2016 WL 8674254 at *3 (citingiper v. Portnoff Law Assqc396 F.3d 227, 236 n.11 (3d
Cir. 2005)).

Here, consistent with thgurpose, the Second Letter omglarged Kurzdorfer’'s rights
under the FDCPA by affording her more thhaimty days to dispute her debg., “above a minimal
standard.” The Second Letter tHigseated no reasonable possilyilof confusion in derogation
of [Kurzdorfer’s] rights,”Brenketr 2004 WL 594502, *2, particularlyhere there is no allegation

that Kurzdorfer took any steps daspute her debt. In fact, Kudarfer does not contest Constar’'s
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representation that “no such challenge or dsmitthe debt was every made by [Kurzdorfer].”
(Dkt. # 10-2 at 3). Absent any other allegagconduct, then, Constariaere sending of the
Second Letter did natiolate the FDCPA.

| recognize that Kurzdorfer points to ocese, on which she principally relie®€Dkt. # 1
at § 21,; Dkt. # 13 at 8, 15-16), that apparergigched a different colusion on this issueSee
Maloney v. Alliance Collection Agencies, 2018 WL 5816375 (E.D. Wc. 2018) (finding that
plaintiffs sufficiently statedlaims under sections 1692e and 16@2gre they alleged defendants’
second validation notice, sentthin the initial 30-day valid#éon period, was “confusing”: “a
consumer who receives a secdmdlidation] notice may reasonably wait until after the initial
30-day period to dispute the atdi] [ijn doing so, she unknowingly forfeithe statutory right to
dispute the debt and trigger tbeasing of collections activities required by the [FDCPA]"). Of
course Maloneyis a case decided by the Eastern DistfdtVisconsin and ithus not binding on
this Court. More significantly, thougMaloneyseems contrary to the above-stated purpose of the
FDCPA. See Curry 2016 WL 8674254 at *5 the FDCPA provides a baseline standard of
conduct for debt collectors[;] [b]ehavior which is not inconsistent with that baseline and enlarges
the rights of a debtor withourtitially misrepresentingnow those rights malye exercised does not
adversely confuse or deceive fleast sophisticated debtor ashier rights as guaranteed by the
FDCPA”). In addition,Maloney appears to be an outlier on this issue in view of the ample
authority identified aboveSee Medina2020 WL 4207671 at *4 (contrastibgaloneywith the
“majority of district courts” finding that sequential letters notigi a separate vaktion period do
not, standing alone, violate the FDCPA). | folltdve majority view on this issue for the reasons

discussed herein and ahus unpersuaded thiglialoneysaves Kurzdorfer claims.
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In sum, | find that the Sead Letter neither overshadowedaamtradicted the validation
notice contained in the First Letter in \atibn of section 1692g, nor did it make a false
representation or deceive Kurzdorieran effort to collect the delr violation of section 1692e.
Constar instead merely extendedrkdorfer’s time to dispute the validity of her debt beyond the
initially noticed validation period, which it was pdttad to do. This being the only basis for her
claims, Kurzdorfer has thus failed to sufficierghate a claim under the FDCPA and her complaint
must be dismissed.

[l. Constar’'s Request for Attorneys’ Fees

Constar has also moved fotaaheys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3) based on
its view that Kurzdorfer’s decision to bring th&svsuit was “abusive” and made in “bad faith.”
(SeeDkt. # 10-2 at 11-12; Dkt. # 1& 12-14). In support of thiequest, Constar maintains that
Kurzdorfer’s allegations fato state a claim forelief and that Kurzdoéi’s counsel “was well
aware that no . .. cause of actiexisted.” (Dkt. # 10-2 at 11)Specifically, Constar’s counsel
states that after Kurzdorfer fdethis case, but pnmoto Constar filing the pending motion, he
“advised counsel for [Kurzdorfer] that the Second Circuit has specifically held that the allegations
in the Complaint did not provide a valid causaction,” and that he “took the extra step of sending
counsel for [Kurzdorfer] copies ¢€ertain court] decisions . . . in an attempt to avoid the instant
motion.” (d. at 11-12;see alsdDkt. # 10-1 at § 11; Dkt. # 18). Opposing Constar’s request,
Kurzdorfer contends that “[t]here is no decisafrthe Second Circuit mgating [her] claim,” and
that, even if her claim lacks merit, that alonen@ sufficient for this Court to grant Constar’s
request for fees under the EPA. (Dkt. # 13 at 20-21)l agree with Kurzdorfer.

Section 1692k(a)(3) of the FD@Rprovides that “[o]n a findig by the court that an action

under [the FDCPA] was brought in bad faith and for the purpose of harassment, the court may
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award to the defendant attorney’s fees reasonable in relation to the work expended and costs.” 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1692k(a)(3). Unlike in the case of ecassful plaintiff, for whom the FDCPA provides
“fee-shifting as a matter of coursddcobson v. Healthcare Fin. Servs., |ri&l6 F.3d 85, 96 (2d
Cir. 2008), such an award against a plaintiff anthvor of a successful defendant under section
1692k(a)(3) constitutes “drastic relielRomeo v. FMA Alliance, Ltd2016 WL 3647868, *15
(E.D.N.Y. 2016);see also Nwaizuzu v. Dunlap Gardiner Attorneys at Law,, 120A9 WL
5491283, *1 (N.D. Ga. 2019) (“As the FDCPA is a aomgr-protection statute, the standard for
awarding attorneys’ fees and costs to prievgidefendants [under section 1692k(a)(3)] is quite
stringent.”) (quotations omitted).

Moreover, a successful debt collector is not entitled to fees merely because a plaintiff's
underlying claim “turn[s] out to lack merit. Rome¢2016 WL 3647868 at *15 (citin§immons
v. Roundup Funding, LL®22 F.3d 93, 97 (2d Cir. 2010pee also Necak v. Select Portfolio
Servicing, Inc.2020 WL 4284923, *4 (S.D. Ohio 2020) (grawgtidefendant’s motion to dismiss
but denying its request for attorneys’ fees under section 1692k(dMahile the [clourt
ultimately finds [p]laintiff's legal arguments unselasive, it does not find the action rises to the
level of bad faith or was pursuededy with the intent to harass[¢]Jourts have declined to award
attorneys’ fees when a claimnsinimally colorable and withowtdditional facts supporting bad
faith or harassment”) (citions omitted). Rather, attorneysefeunder this section are appropriate
when “evidence [exists] that the plaintiff bdthew that her claim was meritless and pursued it
with the purpose of hasaing the defendant.Blumenfield v. Advanced Call Ctr. Techs., L.LC
2015 WL 6442621, *3 (E.D.N.Y. 2015)The district courtnaintains discretion to award a debt

collector attorneys’ fees under the FDCP3¢ee Jacobso’®16 F.3d at 96.
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In my view, Constar is not entitled to atteys’ fees under section 1692k(a)(3). True,
based on the above analysis, Kurzdorfer has falestate a claim for relief under the FDCPA.
But that alone is not a sufficient basis upon whicgremt Constar’s requekir attorneys’ fees.
See Rome®016 WL 3647868 at *19\ecak 2020 WL 4284923 at *4. Critically, Constar has
not presented any evidence dematsig that Kurzdorfer pursued haaims in bad faith or with
the purpose to harass Constar, and Constirtsimented communications with Kurzdorfer’s
counsel regarding its view of timeerits of Kurzdorfer's complainséeDkt. # 10-5) do not show
otherwise.See, e.gNecak 2020 WL 4284923 at *4 (finding thatg]laintiff's continued pursuit
of her claim despite [d]efendé&s communication with [p]laintf regarding the merit of her
[clomplaint does not constitute sufficient adalital facts supporting bad faith or harassment”)
(alterations, citations, and quotat omitted). This is particatly so because, as referenced
above, Constar has not presented binding authamithe dispositive issues discussed herSee,
e.g, Simmons622 F.3d at 97 (vacating debt collector's award of attornieys under section
1692k(a)(3): “[w]hile [the Second Ciudt] agree[s] with the distriatourt’s ruling on the merits of
[plaintiff's] claim . . . the merits turned on a question of lawattlwvas, until this opinion, undecided
in this Circuit[;] [tjhe assertion of thclaim did not by itself prove bad faith”).

Accordingly, Constar has failed to satisfy tlggiite stringent” standard for an award of

attorneys’ fees under gemn 1692k(a)(3), and its regsteis therefore denied.
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CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, Carstaotion to dismiss (Dkt. # 10) ISRANTED.
Kurzdorfer's complaint (Dkt. # 1), therefore, is dismissed in its entirety and with prejudice.

Moreover, Constar’s request for attorneyggén connection with this case is denied.

0 A

DAVID G. LARIMER
United StateDistrict Judge

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: Rochester, New York
September 28, 2020.
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